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 Rather than uphold the law, as was his charge, defendant 

Darryl George Rosen disrespected both his badge and the women 

he sexually abused while on duty as a police officer.  A jury 

convicted defendant of four counts of sexual battery, four counts 

of assault by a public officer, two counts of false imprisonment, 

and one count of attempting to dissuade a witness.  The trial court 

sentenced him to state prison for an aggregate term of nine years 

and eight months.  He appeals.   

 In the published parts of our opinion, we reject his claims 

that (1) the trial court erred in allowing introduction of evidence 

of uncharged sexual assaults committed by defendant, and (2) because 

one victim touched defendant, at his direction, rather than he touch 

her, defendant could not be convicted of assault by a public officer 

against that victim. 

 When a defendant is accused of a sexual offense, Evidence Code 

section 1108 allows the introduction of evidence of the defendant’s 

commission of other sexual offenses, unless the trial court excludes 

the evidence on the ground its probative value is outweighed by the 

probability that presenting the evidence would require an undue 

consumption of time or would create a substantial danger of undue 

prejudice to the defendant, confuse the issue, or mislead the jury.  

We find no merit in defendant’s view that the prosecutor’s decision 

not to formally charge him with committing the other sexual offenses 

necessarily means that the evidence was not sufficiently reliable 

to be used against him.  As we will explain, not only is defendant’s 

premise unsound, it would negate the provisions of Evidence Code 

section 1108.  Also without merit is his claim that evidence of 
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other sexual offenses is not admissible under this statute unless 

the prosecutor presents expert testimony that the evidence shows 

the defendant’s predisposition to commit sex crimes.  For reasons 

that follow, we conclude the statute does not require expert 

testimony, nor is such a requirement otherwise necessary. 

 In another novel contention lacking merit, defendant argues the 

evidence does not support his conviction for assaulting S.M. under 

color of authority and without legal necessity.  (Pen. Code, § 149.)  

In his view, he did not commit an assault because he made no effort 

to touch S.M.; instead, she did the touching when she complied with 

his direction to “grab [his] dick.”  As explained in more detail 

below, because he coerced the victim to engage in an unconsented 

touching of a part of her body to his, defendant was guilty of 

assault by a public officer even though he did not do the touching. 

 In the unpublished parts of our opinion, we address defendant’s 

other claims of error. 

FACTS 

 In 2000 and 2001, defendant was an officer of the Sacramento 

Police Department.   

 Between October 2000 and December 2001, defendant and other 

officers came to S.D.’s house many times to conduct drug searches 

while S.D.’s mother was on searchable probation.  On one occasion, 

defendant took S.D. into the kitchen, closed the door, commented 

about how large her breasts were, and asked if he could suck them.  

He then ran his hand across her chest.  On another occasion, 

defendant took S.D. into the garage of her home.  Having earlier 

given S.D. his telephone number, he asked why she had not called 
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him.  Then, saying he had to make sure that she did not have any 

drugs on her, defendant ordered S.D. to lift her bra and “shake 

it out.”  She complied.  Telling her that she “had some big ass 

titties and he wanted to suck them,” he lifted her t-shirt and 

started “playing with [her] nipples.”  On a third occasion, 

defendant took S.D. into a bedroom of her home and closed the door.  

Again asking why she had not called him, he said how much he wanted 

to “fuck” her.  He then took S.D.’s hand and rubbed it across his 

penis over his pants.   

 Based on these facts, defendant was convicted of misdemeanor 

sexual battery of S.D. for the first incident, felony sexual battery 

for the second incident, and assault by a public officer for the 

third incident. 

 While S.M. was working as a prostitute one evening in 2001, 

defendant drove up to her and told her to come over to his patrol 

car.  He was wearing his police uniform and badge.  Defendant told 

S.M. to stick her head in the car and she did so.  He then said, 

“grab my dick.”  She complied because she did not want to go to 

jail.  S.M. rubbed defendant’s penis over his pants and, when she 

stopped, he told her to “keep doing it.”  She continued to rub 

defendant.  When S.M. finally stopped rubbing defendant’s penis, 

he told her he wanted to “fuck [her] doggie style.”   

 Based on these facts, defendant was convicted of assault by 

a public officer on S.M. and false imprisonment.   

 One day in the summer of 2001, an argument broke out at L.M.’s 

house, and police were summoned.  The call for help falsely reported 

that a gun was involved in the dispute.  Defendant and other police 
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officers responded, and persons in the dispute fled from the scene.  

Eventually, all the officers left except defendant, who spoke with 

L.M.  While talking with her, defendant said that he wanted to 

“fuck” her but that he was not going to “pay” for it.  L.M. assumed 

he believed she was a prostitute, like her friend who was at the 

scene.  Telling L.M. to call him if she wanted to go out on a date, 

defendant gave her his business card and wrote down the telephone 

number where he could be reached.  L.M. was “shocked” by the 

encounter but “just kinda brushed it off” and went back to her home.  

Later that evening, defendant returned in his patrol car, wearing 

his police uniform and badge.  L.M.’s female friend, S.S., who had 

been a prostitute, went out and spoke with defendant.  He asked 

about L.M. and wanted to know whether S.S. had “fucked” her.  While 

S.S. was standing next to the patrol car, defendant grabbed her 

hand, put it on his penis over his pants, and asked her if she 

“liked this nice hard dick.”  He then told S.S. to go inside and 

send L.M. out.  L.M. complied and, as she stood by the open window 

of the patrol car, defendant grabbed her hand and put it on his 

penis over his pants.  L.M. “snatched back” and returned to the 

house.   

 Based on these facts, defendant was convicted of assault by 

a public officer on L.M. and false imprisonment.   

 On June 29, 2001, defendant and two other police officers 

conducted a probation search of the motel room where 16-year-old 

D.C. and her mother were living.  Discovering that D.C. had an 

outstanding warrant for her arrest, defendant handcuffed her and 

put her in his patrol car.  While driving her to juvenile hall, 
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defendant asked D.C. if she had a boyfriend.  Although she replied 

that she is a lesbian, defendant asked her if she liked “big dick.”  

She did not respond.  Defendant eventually stopped the patrol car 

and asked if she was scared.  He then got out of the car, opened 

the rear door on the other side, and placed his gun on top of the 

patrol car.  When D.C. asked what he was doing, defendant reached 

in and put his hand under her shirt and bra and rubbed her breast.  

D.C. yelled at defendant to stop, but he put his hand down her 

pants and onto her vagina.  Eventually, defendant took off his 

utility belt, pulled D.C.’s pants off and climbed on top of her.  

Although she screamed and tried to kick him off, he succeeded in 

getting his penis inside her vagina.  He then got out of the car, 

grabbed his utility belt and gun, got back in the front seat, 

and drove off.  During the remaining journey, defendant told D.C. 

not to tell anyone what he had done, saying he had “all [of her] 

information,” which she took as a threat.  When they arrived at 

juvenile hall, defendant told D.C. he would be waiting for her when 

she got out.  She took this as a threat as well.  When defendant 

took D.C. out of the car, he got behind her, bent her cuffed hands 

up, and told her to “grab his dick.”  She complied.  After they 

entered the building and he was taking D.C. for fingerprinting, 

defendant again got behind her, bent her hands up, and ordered 

her to “grab his dick.”  She again complied.   

 Based on these facts, defendant was convicted of two counts 

of felony sexual battery on D.C., assault by a public officer, and 

attempting to dissuade a witness from testifying. 
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 Defendant also was charged with other offenses against D.C., 

including rape, and several crimes involving two other victims.  

However, the jury either found defendant not guilty or was unable 

to reach a verdict on those other charges.   

DISCUSSION 

I 

 Defendant contends the trial court abused its discretion in 

allowing the prosecutor to present evidence of uncharged sexual 

offenses that defendant committed against R.P., A.M., and A.E.   

A 

 R.P. testified that she called the police in March 2001 when 

her home was burglarized.  Defendant responded and took the report.  

After R.P. saw him over a month later at the courthouse, defendant 

returned unexpectedly to her home, in uniform in his patrol car, 

while she was standing outside.  Defendant called her to come to 

the patrol car.  She complied and leaned on the open driver side 

window of the car.  After defendant talked with her for a moment, 

he “grabbed [R.P.’s] hand and placed it down on his groin area” 

over his pants.  Feeling his erect penis, she immediately pulled 

her hand away.  Defendant told her not to tell anyone about the 

incident.  On several other occasions, defendant came back to 

R.P.’s house in his patrol car and repeatedly instructed her 

not to tell anyone about what he had done.  The last contact that 

R.P. had with defendant was in December 2001, when he came up to 

her at night in his patrol car as she was in an alley walking home.  

He told her to get into the patrol car.  She did so because she 
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was afraid to refuse.  As she sat in the passenger seat, defendant 

said, “You’re going to give me a blow job.”  R.P. refused and 

attempted to get out of the car, but defendant grabbed her and 

pulled her head down onto his penis.  She tried to keep her mouth 

closed, but defendant kept pulling it against his penis until she 

opened her mouth and he put his penis into it.  When the headlights 

of another car appeared down the alley, defendant told R.P. to get 

up because someone was coming.  He then pushed her out of the 

patrol car, causing her to fall to the ground.  Although she told 

her mother what had happened, R.P. did not report it to the police 

department because she was scared of defendant.  She later revealed 

the incidents only after she was contacted by an officer who was 

investigating allegations of misconduct by defendant.   

 A.M. testified that she and a friend were stopped by defendant 

in 2001, while they were driving a stolen vehicle.  He handcuffed 

A.M. and put her in his patrol car.  Instead of taking A.M. to jail, 

defendant said he would drive her home.  When he let her out of the 

patrol car, defendant pinned A.M. against the car, squeezed her 

breasts and nipples, rubbed her vagina through her pants, and 

“just groped [her] all over.”  He then took off the handcuffs and 

let her go, telling her that he “saved [her] ass” because she had 

outstanding warrants for her arrest.  On several other occasions 

while he was on patrol, defendant came up to A.M. as she was walking 

along Del Paso Boulevard.  He would say “nasty things” to her and 

told her that he “wanted [her] to suck his dick.”  A.M. did not 

report these incidents because she had warrants out for her arrest 

and did not want to go to jail.  It was not until she saw news 
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accounts about defendant having sexually assaulted other women that 

A.M. called the district attorney’s office to say what had happened 

to her.   

 A.E. testified that her first contact with defendant was when 

he responded to a complaint that A.E. and others were “being too 

loud” in a park near an apartment complex.  He patted her down, 

between her legs and on her breasts; in her words, he “was groping 

around my breast, like grabbing it.”  In September 2001, A.E. was 

stopped by defendant while she was walking at night to a friend’s 

house.  He was in uniform and in his patrol car.  After questioning 

her about where she was going, he asked if she had a boyfriend.  

When she replied, “no,” defendant asked, “well, do you like girls?”  

Again, she replied, “no,” whereupon defendant asked if she would 

give him a “blow job.”  A.E. said “no” and told him that he was 

“stupid.”  Defendant then stated he had a “big cock” and asked 

if she wanted to see it.  A.E. said she had to leave and started 

walking away.  Defendant put his car into reverse, reached out, 

and grabbed her wrist to stop her.  He told her not to tell anyone 

about what had occurred.  Nevertheless, A.E. mentioned the incident 

to her cousin.  On another occasion, while A.E. and her cousin were 

talking outside an apartment, defendant walked up and pulled A.E. 

aside.  He asked when she was going to be 18.  She said in a year.  

Defendant then asked if it was possible for them to get together 

after she turned 18.  A.E. simply laughed and walked away.  

When A.E. and her cousin saw news reports of defendant’s sexual 

molestation of other women, A.E. told her mother what had happened.  
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Her mother then called the police department and reported what had 

occurred with defendant and A.E.   

B 

 In defendant’s view, the fact that the prosecutor chose not to 

formally charge him with committing crimes against R.P., A.M., and 

A.E. means the prosecutor deemed their accusations “insufficiently 

reliable to use [against defendant].”  It follows, he argues, their 

testimony should have been excluded because he “should not have 

been convicted based on allegations of persons whose testimony was 

not sufficiently reliable to serve as the foundation for criminal 

charges or withstand probable cause review.”   

 Aside from the fact that defendant’s premise is unsound,1 his 

legal position lacks merit.  In effect, it would mean that evidence 

of uncharged crimes could never be introduced against a defendant 

simply because the prosecutor had chosen not to formally charge 

the defendant with those crimes.  That, however, is not the law. 

 Evidence Code section 1108 is an exception to the general 

rule that “evidence of a person’s character or trait of his or her 

character (whether in the form of an opinion, evidence of reputation, 

or evidence of specific instances of his or her conduct) is 

inadmissible when offered to prove his or her conduct on a specified 

                     

1  Even though a prosecutor believes a victim’s accusations 
are reliable, the prosecutor may decide for good reason not 
to formally charge a defendant with crimes against the victim.  
For example, the statute of limitations may have run, or the 
prosecutor may conclude that, due to the circumstances of the 
crimes, the evidence would be insufficient to satisfy the burden 
of proving them beyond a reasonable doubt.  
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occasion.”  (Evid. Code, § 1101, subd. (a); further section 

references are to the Evidence Code unless otherwise specified.)   

 Subdivision (a) of section 1108 states:  “In a criminal action 

in which the defendant is accused of a sexual offense, evidence of 

the defendant’s commission of another sexual offense or offenses 

is not made inadmissible by Section 1101, if the evidence is not 

inadmissible pursuant to Section 352 [which gives the trial court 

discretion to exclude evidence if its probative value is outweighed 

by the probability that its introduction would require an undue 

consumption of time or would create a substantial danger of undue 

prejudice, confusing the issues, or misleading the jury].” 

 On its face, the statute applies to evidence of prior sexual 

offenses without regard to whether defendant was ever formally 

charged with the commission of those offenses. 

C 

 In a creative argument, defendant asserts that section 1108 

allows the introduction of other sexual offenses evidence to show 

his “disposition” to commit the charged crime, rather than his 

“character.”  According to defendant, “character” and “disposition” 

are distinguishable and refer to different “distinct properties of 

the human personality,” i.e., disposition refers to the “‘prevailing 

aspect of one’s nature [a genial disposition],’” whereas character 

“‘is applied to the sum of moral qualities associated with a 

distinctive individual [a weak character] . . . .’”  (Italics 

omitted.)  Defendant concedes that evidence of a person’s character 

“is not subject to expert analysis.”  However, he claims, the “avenue 

for introduction of evidence of disposition is through a properly 
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qualified expert witness, or in some limited circumstances through 

the introduction of lay opinion testimony.”  Thus, he argues, without 

expert testimony that the evidence of defendant’s other sexual 

offenses shows he “had a predisposition to commit sexually deviant 

acts with females, . . . the other crimes evidence should not have 

been permitted.”   

 Again, defendant reads something into the statute that does not 

exist, namely, in the words of his counsel, evidence of other sexual 

offenses is not admissible “without the filter of a qualified expert 

opinion.”   

 By enacting section 1101, the Legislature determined that 

“propensity evidence,” i.e., a defendant’s “disposition to commit 

[criminal acts],” ordinarily should be inadmissible “‘“not because 

it has no appreciable probative value, but because it has too much.” 

. . . [Citations.]’  [Citations.]”  (People v. Falsetta (1999) 21 

Cal.4th 903, 911, 912, 915; original italics.)  However, by enacting 

section 1108, the Legislature determined that in prosecutions for the 

commission of sexual offenses, “‘the policy considerations favoring 

the exclusion of evidence of uncharged sexual offenses are outweighed 

. . . by the policy considerations favoring the admission of such 

evidence.  The Legislature has determined the need for this evidence 

is “critical” given the serious and secretive nature of sex crimes 

and the often resulting credibility contest at trial.  [Citation.]’  

[Citations.]”  (Id. at pp. 911-912.) 

 The language of section 1108 does not say that other sex crimes 

evidence must be introduced by way of expert testimony regarding the 

defendant’s predisposition to commit sexual offenses.  (People v. 
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McFarland (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 489, 494 [“section 1108 authorizes 

evidence of a defendant’s uncharged acts in certain cases, but says 

nothing about opinion evidence regarding character”].)  Nor is such 

a requirement necessary, because the probative value of other sex 

crimes evidence is a matter of common sense and common experience; 

a person need not be an expert to understand that one who commits 

a sex offense may be predisposed to commit more sex offenses in 

the future.  It is readily apparent that “‘the willingness to commit 

a sexual offense is not common to most individuals,’” and that sex 

offenders often are recidivists; thus, the fact that a defendant has 

committed a prior sexual offense is “‘“evidence of the defendant’s 

disposition to commit such crimes, [which has a] bearing on the 

probability or improbability that [he or she] has been falsely or 

mistakenly accused of [committing another] such an offense.”’  

[Citation.]”  (People v. Falsetta, supra, 21 Cal.4th at p. 912.) 

 Indeed, in a sex crime prosecution, a prosecutor is not allowed 

to present expert testimony regarding a defendant’s predisposition 

to commit sexual offenses, unless it is offered to rebut similar 

evidence presented by the defense to show that the defendant is 

not predisposed to commit such crimes.  (People v. McFarland, supra, 

78 Cal.App.4th at pp. 493-496 [rejecting a claim that section 1108 

“authorize[s] . . . opinion [evidence of] sexual propensity during 

the prosecution’s case-in-chief”; noting, instead, that the statute 

“authorizes only the ‘specific act’ variety of character evidence”].) 

D 

 In another attack on the other uncharged sex crimes evidence, 

defendant claims that its prejudicial effect outweighed its 



 

14 

probative value and, thus, the trial court abused its discretion 

under section 352 by not excluding the evidence.   

 According to defendant, the evidence had little probative value 

for three reasons.   

 First, he reiterates his claim that the prosecutor’s decision 

not to formally charge defendant with offenses based on the other 

crimes evidence means the evidence was unreliable.  We already have 

rejected that claim.  (See fn. 1, ante.) 

 Second, he suggests the evidence was not believable because  

R.P., A.M., and A.E., “like some of the charged victims, were 

motivated at least in part by hopes of suing the defendant and the 

City for [the individuals’] victimization.”  However, of the three 

women, only R.P. had filed suit against defendant and the City of 

Sacramento at the time of trial.  In any event, the fact that the 

women may have intended to seek damages by way of a civil proceeding 

does not necessarily mean their testimony had little probative value; 

it simply was a factor for the jury to consider in assessing their 

credibility. 

 Third, he argues the testimony of each of the three women was 

“weak” as discussed below.   

 In defendant’s view, much of R.P.’s testimony was “inconsistent” 

and “indicated that the conduct that she described was consensual.”  

He also says “her allegation involved oral copulation, a claim not 

made by other alleged victims.”  We cannot agree that R.P. described 

consensual acts.  Like the other victims, it is apparent that when 

R.P. complied with defendant’s demands, she did so because she was 

afraid to refuse in that he was a police officer in a position of 
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authority over her or because, as to the alleged oral copulation, 

defendant physically forced her to comply.  There is no merit in 

defendant’s assertion that R.P.’s allegation of oral copulation was 

a claim not made by other victims; both A.M. and A.E. testified that 

defendant asked them to orally copulate him, although they refused to 

do so, and S.S. testified defendant asked her if she liked “giving 

head.”  Also, like other victims, R.P. testified that defendant 

forced her to rub his penis with her hand.  The fact R.P.’s testimony 

was inconsistent in some respects does not support defendant’s claim 

that it had little probative value. 

 Defendant suggests A.M.’s testimony lacked sufficient probative 

value because (1) it “was not particularly distinctive or similar 

to the charged offenses,” (2) her initial statement “left out the 

pertinent detail that she was handcuffed during the alleged contact 

with [defendant],” and (3) she “had prior convictions for crimes 

involving dishonesty.”  Contrary to defendant’s claim, the conduct 

described by A.M. was very much like that committed by defendant on 

the other victims; he “groped” her “all over,” squeezing her breasts 

and nipples and rubbing her vagina through her pants, and he said 

“nasty things” to her, including that he “wanted [her] to suck his 

dick.”  Although A.M.’s initial statement to police did not include 

every detail about defendant’s sexual assaults, and she had committed 

crimes of dishonesty, the trial court did not abuse its discretion 

in determining that her testimony had probative value if believed 

by the jury.   

 Defendant’s claim is hollow in asserting that his “patdown” 

of A.E. “was not inappropriate” and that “[t]here was some verbal 
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banter between the two [on other occasions], but there was no alleged 

physical conduct to indicate that it was serious, or related to the 

acts alleged by the charged victims.”  During the patdown, he groped 

and grabbed her “entire breast.”  A.E. initially was not offended 

because she had never been patted down before.  However, this did not 

make the groping “appropriate.”  On another occasion while defendant 

was in uniform and in his patrol car, he asked A.E. to give him 

a “blow job.”  A.E. declined, telling defendant he was “stupid.”  

But he persisted, claiming he had a “big cock” and asking if she 

wanted to see it.  When A.E. tried to walk away, defendant grabbed 

her wrist and told her not to tell anyone about what had occurred.  

Surely this contact with A.E., a minor, went far beyond verbal banter 

and involved serious misconduct akin to his sexual assaults on the 

other victims.  The trial court acted well within its discretion 

in finding the testimony to have substantial probative value.   

 We also reject his contention that the probative value of the 

other crimes evidence was outweighed by its prejudicial effect.  

Characterizing the testimony of R.P., A.M., and A.E. as “misleading 

and distracting,” defendant accuses the prosecutor of “piling on” 

by “creat[ing] an avalanche of accusations, inviting the jury to 

convict on some counts as a means of compromise and not because any 

of the charged victims were worthy of belief.”  We find nothing 

misleading or distracting in the evidence; all the victims described 

similar conduct by defendant, utilizing his position of authority to 

take sexual advantage of relatively vulnerable women.  And defendant 

is wrong in asserting that the multiple allegations of wrongdoing 

invited the jurors to convict based upon compromise rather than 
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upon the believability of the victims.  Absolutely nothing supports 

this claim; indeed, defendant’s appellate efforts to challenge the 

credibility of the victims is unconvincing.  The “prejudice” to which 

section 352 refers applies to evidence that uniquely tends to evoke 

an emotional bias against defendant as an individual and that has 

very little effect on the issues.  (People v. Karis (1988) 46 Cal.3d 

612, 638.)  The testimony of R.P., A.M., and A.E. was not such 

evidence.  Hence, the trial court correctly denied defendant’s 

section 352 motion to exclude the other crimes testimony.   

II 

 “Every public officer who, under color of authority, without 

lawful necessity, assaults or beats any person” is guilty of a 

crime.  (Pen. Code, § 149.)  An assault includes an unconsented 

touching of the victim.  (1 Witkin & Epstein, Cal. Criminal Law 

(3d ed. 2000) Crimes Against the Person, §§ 1, 2, pp. 638-639.) 

 According to defendant, the evidence does not support his 

conviction for assaulting S.M. under color of authority and without 

legal necessity.  This is so, he argues, because it was S.M. who 

did the touching when she complied with defendant’s direction to 

“grab [his] dick.”  In his view, “[t]here was no assault described 

in [S.M.’s] testimony.  [He] did not touch her, and made no effort 

to touch her.  He committed no act which would probably and directly 

(or even indirectly) result in the application of physical force to 

[S.M.]”   

 Surprisingly, the Attorney General agrees that the conviction 

must be reversed because “[r]espondent is unable to find any legal 

authority in support of the position that a command to engage in an 
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offensive touching, even if complied with, is sufficient in itself 

to constitute an assault.”   

 The District Attorney of Sacramento County, who prosecuted 

defendant, disagrees and has submitted an amicus curiae brief arguing 

the crime was committed because, by telling S.M. to grab his penis, 

defendant caused the performance of an act that directly resulted 

in a touching of his body with the victim’s hand.  This, the district 

attorney asserts, constituted an assault by a public officer, under 

color of authority, without legal necessity.   

 We agree with the District Attorney.   

 Penal Code section 240 defines an assault as “an unlawful 

attempt, coupled with a present ability, to commit a violent 

injury on the person of another.”  Although this section refers 

to a “violent injury,” any wrongful act committed by means of 

physical force will suffice.  (People v. McCoy (1944) 25 Cal.2d 

177, 191; People v. Whalen (1954) 124 Cal.App.2d 713, 720.)  

“‘“The kind of physical force is immaterial; . . . it may consist 

in the taking of indecent liberties with a woman, or laying hold 

of and kissing her against her will.”’”  (People v. Bradbury 

(1907) 151 Cal. 675, 677.)  Without question, an offensive 

touching, such as the fondling of a person’s sexual organs, will 

support a conviction for assault or battery.  (People v. Bard 

(1968) 70 Cal.2d 3, 6.)  

 “A defendant can commit a battery indirectly by causing the 

force to be applied to the person of another [citation] and thus 

can be guilty of indirect assault as well.”  (People v. Wright (1996) 

52 Cal.App.4th 203, 210, fn. 17.)  As explained in Commonwealth v. 
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Stratton (1873) 114 Mass. 303 [1873 WL 12016]:  “Although force 

and violence are included in all definitions of assault, or assault 

and battery, yet, where there is physical injury to another person, 

it is sufficient that the cause is set in motion by the defendant, 

or that the person is subjected to its operation by means of any 

act or control which the defendant exerts.”  (Id. at p. 305 [upheld 

a conviction for assault where the defendant delivered to the victim 

figs that contained a foreign substance and the victim ate the figs 

and became ill].)   

 Accordingly, if by coercion a defendant causes an unconsented 

physical touching of a victim, the defendant is guilty of assault 

and battery even though the defendant does not do the touching.  

For example, causing force to be applied to a victim by compelling 

the person to jump from a moving car is the indirect application of 

force sufficient for an assault and battery.  (1 Witkin & Epstein, 

Cal. Criminal Law (3d ed. 2000) Crimes Against the Person, § 13, 

p. 646.)  The fact that the victim applied to himself or herself 

the force that resulted in injury is immaterial if the force was 

applied against the victim’s will because the defendant demanded 

it and the victim felt compelled to comply.  (Cf. People v. Grant 

(1992) 8 Cal.App.4th 1105, 1112 [“There are many situations where 

one is compelled, i.e., forced, to do something against one’s will 

but the compulsion does not involve personal violence or threats 

of personal violence.  This is especially true when the person 

involved in the compulsion is an authority figure or posing as a 

person in authority.  The force is a psychological force compelling 

the victim to comply with the orders of the authority figure”]; 



 

20 

see also People v. Mickle (1991) 54 Cal.3d 140, 175-176 [for the 

purposes of Penal Code section 288, subdivision (a), a person is 

guilty of a lewd touching if he or she compels the victim to do 

the touching; People v. Meacham (1984) 152 Cal.App.3d 142, 152-154; 

People v. Austin (1980) 111 Cal.App.3d 110, 114-116.) 

 Here, defendant did not use physical force on S.M. to get her 

to touch his penis.  Instead, he exerted psychological coercion by 

virtue of his position as a police officer and her situation as 

a prostitute subject to arrest.  S.M. testified she complied with 

defendant’s commands because she was afraid he would take her to 

jail if she refused.  This coercive force was just as effective as 

if defendant had grabbed S.M.’s hand and forced it onto his penis, 

as he did with victims L.M. and D.C.2  (See People v. Grant, supra, 

8 Cal.App.4th at p. 1112.)  Although in this instance, S.M. was the 

person who did the touching, it cannot reasonably be said that her 

being coerced into touching defendant’s penis was not offensive to 

S.M. 

 For these reasons, defendant’s act--under color of authority 

and without lawful justification--of compelling an offensive touching 

with S.M.’s hand constituted a violation of Penal Code section 149. 

III* 

 Defendant contends there is insufficient evidence to support 

his conviction for misdemeanor false imprisonment of S.M.  This is 

so, he argues, because a conviction for false imprisonment requires 

                     

2  Defendant wisely does not argue that there was no assault on 
L.M. and D.C.  
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proof S.M. was physically restrained, and the record contains no such 

evidence.  We disagree.   

 “False imprisonment is the unlawful violation of the personal 

liberty of another.”  (Pen. Code, § 236.)  “‘In order to constitute 

a case of false imprisonment, it is essential that there be some 

restraint of the person; but it is not necessary that there be 

confinement in a jail or prison.  Any exercise of force, or express 

or implied threat of force, by which in fact the other person is 

deprived of his liberty or is compelled to remain where he does 

not wish to remain, or to go where he does not wish to go, is an 

imprisonment.’”  (People v. Agnew (1940) 16 Cal.2d 655, 659-660.)   

 Felony false imprisonment requires proof that the offense 

was effected by “violence, menace, fraud, or deceit.”  (Pen. Code, 

§ 237, subd. (a).)  However, to support a charge of misdemeanor 

false imprisonment, it is necessary only to prove the victim was 

“‘restrained of his liberty without any sufficient complaint or 

authority thereof, and it may be accomplished by words or acts 

. . . which such individual fears to disregard.’”  (People v. Haney 

(1977) 75 Cal.App.3d 308, 313.)  The demand of an authority figure, 

such as a police officer, can constitute the restraint necessary 

for false imprisonment.  (People v. Grant, supra, 8 Cal.App.4th at 

p. 1112.)   

 While S.M. was “working the strip” as a prostitute, defendant 

called her over to his patrol car.  He was in uniform and wearing 

a badge.  S.M. complied with his command because she believed that 

“if [she] didn’t, he would have thought [she] was resisting arrest 

or ignoring him . . . .”  When S.M. got to the patrol car, defendant 
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directed her to lean in the window and “grab [his] dick.”  Again, 

she complied.  The jury reasonably could conclude that because 

defendant was an authority figure over a person who knew she was 

subject to arrest for prostitution, defendant exerted psychological 

force to compel S.M. to comply with his orders.  Because he was 

seeking sexual gratification, he had no lawful purpose in forcing 

S.M. to remain by his patrol car.  She was therefore restrained for 

purposes of misdemeanor false imprisonment. 

IV* 

 Defendant was convicted of assault by a public officer 

(count four) and two counts of sexual battery (counts two and 

three), based primarily on the testimony of D.C.  He contends 

the trial court erred in excluding impeachment evidence in the 

form of a string of residential burglaries for which D.C. was 

being prosecuted.  While acknowledging the court allowed the 

introduction of evidence that D.C. was convicted of other 

earlier crimes, defendant contends the burglary evidence 

would have rebutted her claim at trial that she had reformed.  

We are not persuaded.  

 In rejecting the proffered evidence, the trial court cited 

section 352, which permits the exclusion of relevant evidence 

where “its probative value is substantially outweighed by the 

probability that its admission will (a) necessitate undue 

consumption of time or (b) create substantial danger of undue 

prejudice, of confusing the issues, or of misleading the jury.”  

The court concluded that it would be unfair to present evidence 

of the burglary charges against D.C. because those charges were 
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still pending and she would have had to waive her Fifth Amendment 

right in order to respond to the evidence.   

 An evidentiary determination made pursuant to section 352 

is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard.  (People v. 

Williams (1997) 16 Cal.4th 153, 213.)  “A trial court’s exercise 

of discretion will not be disturbed unless it appears that the 

resulting injury is sufficiently grave to manifest a miscarriage 

of justice.  [Citation.]  In other words, discretion is abused 

only if the court exceeds the bounds of reason, all of the 

circumstances being considered.”  (People v. Stewart (1985) 171 

Cal.App.3d 59, 65.)  However, “‘section 352 must bow to the due 

process right of a defendant to a fair trial and to his right to 

present all relevant evidence of significant probative value to 

his defense.’ . . .  [Citations.]”  (People v. Babbit (1988) 45 

Cal.3d 660, 684; original italics.)   

 Defendant disputes the prosecutor’s claim that introduction 

of the proffered evidence would have led to a mini-trial of the 

burglary charges against D.C.  In defendant’s view, this concern 

was illusory because the defense and prosecution were in agreement 

that D.C. committed the burglaries; otherwise, defendant argues, 

“the District Attorney would not have charged her.”   

 This argument does not help defendant because the trial court 

did not rely on this factor as a basis for exercising its discretion 

to exclude the evidence.  It did so because, in the court’s words, 

“it would be unfair to offer evidence of the underlying conduct 
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since those charges are still pending and since the witness has 

a Fifth Amendment right.  She’s not able to really respond.”3   

 According to defendant, the trial court’s concern about D.C.’s 

Fifth Amendment right was misplaced because she was not a party to 

this case and was not entitled to a false aura of veracity.  But he 

fails to explain how this has any bearing on D.C.’s Fifth Amendment 

right against self-incrimination.  As for a false aura of veracity, 

this was hardly the situation.  The jury was told that D.C. was 

charged with the burglaries.  Evidence also was introduced that 

in December 2003, D.C. and her father stole video games from Target 

to get money to buy drugs.  D.C. testified that she first got in 

trouble with the law for petty theft at the age of 13 or 14 and 

that she received stolen credit cards at the age of 15.  She also 

had failed to appear in court.   

                     

3  In any event, it is readily apparent to us that introduction 
of the evidence could have resulted in a time-consuming trial 
within a trial.  The court permitted evidence that charges were 
pending against D.C. for the burglaries.  It explained that such 
evidence was relevant to whether D.C. was testifying in order 
to gain favorable treatment on those charges.  In his opening 
statement, the prosecutor told the jury:  “The first five counts 
involve a young woman by the name of [D.C.]. [¶] You’re going 
to meet [D.C.] during the course of this trial.  [D.C.] will 
be in custody.  She has been arrested recently for burglary 
and possession of stolen property.  She is a criminal.  She is 
also a thief.”  During trial, D.C. testified she was currently 
in jail on charges of burglary and receiving stolen property.  
But defendant wanted more.  He sought to present evidence about 
the burglaries and D.C.’s involvement to prove she did in fact 
commit them.  Therefore, even if neither side had an interest 
in presenting a defense, introduction of the evidence could have 
involved presentation of an entire prosecution case regarding 
the multiple burglaries.   
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 Finally, we turn to defendant’s suggestion that the evidence 

was necessary to rebut D.C.’s claim at trial that she had reformed.  

However, she made no such claim.  During cross-examination, D.C. 

acknowledged telling prosecution investigator Kimberley Clark that 

D.C. planned to go to college, to play basketball, to join the Army 

or Navy, to stay away from Sacramento, and to make a new start.  

But D.C. further testified that she had returned to Sacramento, 

had not joined the Army or Navy, had not gone to college, and 

was not playing basketball.   

 In sum, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in 

excluding details about burglaries allegedly committed by D.C.  

In any event, exclusion of the evidence did not harm defendant 

because the other impeachment evidence was sufficient to call 

D.C.’s credibility into question.   

V* 

 Defendant claims the trial court erred in denying defendant’s 

motion for new trial on the ground of ineffective assistance of 

counsel.  He argues his trial counsel was ineffective in failing 

to present impeaching evidence that S.D. had been caught passing 

counterfeit checks.  We find no prejudicial error.   

 In support of his motion for new trial, defendant presented 

the declaration of Lisha Karpay-Brody, a loss prevention department 

employee at Golden One Credit Union.  Ms. Karpay-Brody indicated 

she informed defense counsel in December 2003 or January 2004 that 

from her experience in fraud investigations, she recognized the 

name of S.D.  According to Golden One files, S.D. had deposited 

three counterfeit checks into her account in the amounts of $872, 



 

26 

$170, and $60, and one of these transactions had been recorded on 

a surveillance camera.  According to Ms. Karpay-Brody, a copy of 

the file was sent to the Sacramento Police Department.  Despite 

providing this information to defense counsel, she received 

no further contact.   

 In opposing the new trial motion, the prosecutor presented 

the declaration of investigator Kimberley Clark, who stated that 

she asked for a computer records check on S.D. from the Sacramento 

Police Department in October 2004, and was advised that there 

were four reports listing S.D. as a suspect in check frauds.  

Clark also obtained a statement from S.D. admitting she used 

two fraudulent checks.  In addition, the prosecutor presented 

the declaration of Sacramento Police Department Lieutenant 

Milt Nenneman, who said the fraud charges against S.D. would 

not have been investigated because the amount of money involved 

was less than $5,000.   

 Both the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and 

article I, section 15 of the California Constitution provide that 

a defendant in a criminal trial has a right to effective assistance 

of counsel.  (See Strickland v. Washington (1984) 466 U.S. 668, 684-

685 [80 L.Ed.2d 674, 691-692]; People v. Ledesma (1987) 43 Cal.3d 

171, 215.)  In order to establish ineffective assistance of counsel, 

defendant must show (1) counsel’s performance was deficient, and (2) 

in the absence of counsel’s deficiency, it is reasonably probable 

defendant would have obtained a more favorable result.  (People v. 

Cunningham (2001) 25 Cal.4th 926, 1030-1031.)   
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 Where “‘it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim 

on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, . . . that course 

should be followed.’”  (In re Alvernaz (1992) 2 Cal.4th 924, 945, 

quoting Strickland v. Washington, supra, 466 U.S. at p. 697 

[80 L.Ed.2d at p. 699].)  “‘Prejudice is shown when there is a 

“reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional 

errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.  

A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine 

confidence in the outcome.”  [Citations.]’”  (In re Avena (1996) 

12 Cal.4th 694, 721.)   

 We need not decide whether it is conceivable that defense 

counsel felt there already was enough evidence impeaching S.D., and 

thus made a tactical decision not to present the evidence identified 

above.  This is so because, based on the totality of the evidence, 

we conclude it is not reasonably probable that defendant would have 

received a more favorable result if the impeaching evidence at issue 

had been presented to the jury.   

 Other impeaching evidence of significant value was introduced.  

S.D. testified she was convicted in September 2001 of possessing 

cocaine for sale.  And when she was contacted in connection with 

defendant’s prosecution, she had a warrant out for her arrest for 

failing to appear in court.  S.D. also testified that she had filed 

a civil action against defendant and, thus, had a financial stake 

in his conviction.   

 Moreover, S.D.’s testimony was believable, despite her past 

bad acts involving moral turpitude, because the offenses that she 

described--defendant rubbing her breasts and forcing her to rub his 
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penis over his pants--were similar to defendant’s modus operandi, 

as reflected in the testimony of many other victims.   

 In light of the strong evidence of defendant’s guilt and the 

other impeaching evidence presented with respect to S.D., we are 

convinced that it is not reasonably probable the jury would have 

rejected S.D.’s testimony if it had been told she was suspected of 

passing bad checks.  Therefore, defendant’s claim of ineffective 

assistance of counsel fails. 

VI* 

 Defendant contends the trial court erred in denying his 

motion for new trial on the basis of jury misconduct.  He argues 

there were two instances of misconduct, one where an alternate 

juror discussed the case with an outsider and another where, 

before commencement of deliberations, several jurors discussed 

the evidence, the demeanor of witnesses, and defendant’s family 

members.   

 Regarding the first alleged misconduct, the trial court held 

an in camera hearing concerning alternate juror two, whose barber 

testified as follows:  During the course of defendant’s trial, the 

subject of the trial came up while he and alternate juror two were 

at Jamie’s Bar.  Alternate juror two said “[i]t doesn’t look good” 

and stated he did not like defendant’s wife.  The barber was aware 

that alternate juror two was serving on the case because he said 

so.  When questioned by the court, alternate juror two acknowledged 

going to Jamie’s Bar, where some patrons knew he was serving on 

this case.  In alternate juror two’s words, some “try [to talk with 

him about the case], but normally I don’t say anything to ‘em.”  If 
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they talked about what they had read in the newspapers, he would 

tell them, “I can’t hear about it.”  He denied telling his barber 

that “things didn’t look good for [defendant],” and he denied 

saying he did not like defendant’s wife.   

 Based on the foregoing, the defense asked the trial court 

to excuse alternate juror two.  The prosecution did not object, 

and the court granted the request.  Defendant also asked the 

court to question other jurors to see if alternate juror two 

had expressed to them any opinions about the case.  The court 

agreed.   

 During the questioning, jurors one, two, seven, eight, ten, 

eleven, and twelve, and alternate juror three, indicated they 

had not heard any discussions among the jurors regarding the 

case.   

 However, juror three indicated she had heard a discussion 

among juror six and alternate jurors two and four, in which 

someone mentioned that defendant’s wife was an undercover police 

officer.  Juror three asked how they knew, and they said it was 

in evidence.  Juror three then said, “well, you know, we can’t 

discuss any of this information.”  Juror three testified that 

no opinion had been expressed about defendant’s wife.   

 Juror four indicated he had heard no discussions among the 

jurors about the case.  He acknowledged that when he and alternate 

juror two were departing the courthouse, they talked about playing 

golf some day and alternate juror two said he had been “kicked off” 

the jury.   
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 Juror five informed the court that juror one told her about 

waiting for the elevator one day when she thought she heard others 

nearby talking about the case.  Juror one told them she was a juror 

and they told her to “shut her ears.”  Juror one told juror five 

she “didn’t hear exactly what they were talking about or anything 

like that” but that juror one suspected the people were members of 

defendant’s family.   

 Juror six indicated she had a conversation with other jurors 

about one of the witnesses.  According to juror six, this was just 

“small-talk” about the witness having a good job that paid a lot 

of money.  There was also a discussion about how it must be hard 

for defendant’s family to sit through the trial.  Juror six was 

uncertain which of the other jurors were involved.   

 Alternate juror one stated alternate juror two made a comment 

early in the trial about the attitude of one of the witnesses, but 

alternate juror one “just blew it off and ended the conversation 

right there.”  According to alternate juror one, no other juror 

was present to hear the comment.   

 Even the inadvertent receipt of information relevant to 

a case that was not presented in court can constitute misconduct.  

“Although inadvertent exposure to out-of-court information is not 

blameworthy conduct, as might be suggested by the term ‘misconduct,’ 

it nevertheless gives rise to a presumption of prejudice, because 

it poses the risk that one or more jurors may be influenced by 

material that the defendant has had no opportunity to confront, 

cross-examine, or rebut.”  (People v. Nesler (1997) 16 Cal.4th 561, 

579.)  It is also improper for jurors to converse among themselves 
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about the case before the matter is submitted to them.  (Pen. Code, 

§ 1122; People v. Pierce (1979) 24 Cal.3d 199, 207.)  The primary 

concern with such discussions is that they may create or reveal 

a bias of one or more jurors that could deprive the defendant of a 

fair trial.  It is important that the jurors not begin to formulate 

conclusions about the evidence until it has all been presented and 

they have been properly instructed.   

 Although jury misconduct creates a presumption of prejudice, 

the presumption “is rebutted, and the verdict will not be disturbed, 

if the entire record in the particular case, including the nature 

of the misconduct or other event, and the surrounding circumstances, 

indicates there is no reasonable probability of prejudice, i.e., 

no substantial likelihood that one or more jurors were actually 

biased against the defendant.  [Citations.] [¶] The standard is a 

pragmatic one, mindful of the ‘day-to-day realities of courtroom 

life’ [citation] and of society’s strong competing interest in the 

stability of criminal verdicts [citations].  It is ‘virtually 

impossible to shield jurors from every contact or influence that 

might theoretically affect their vote.’  [Citation.]  Moreover, 

the jury is a ‘fundamentally human’ institution; the unavoidable 

fact that jurors bring diverse backgrounds, philosophies, and 

personalities into the jury room is both the strength and the 

weakness of the institution.  [Citation.]  ‘[T]he criminal justice 

system must not be rendered impotent in quest of an ever-elusive 

perfection. . . .  [Jurors] are imbued with human frailties as well 

as virtues.  If the system is to function at all, we must tolerate 
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a certain amount of imperfection short of actual bias.’”  (In re 

Hamilton (1999) 20 Cal.4th 273, 296, italics omitted.)   

 “In determining whether misconduct occurred, ‘[w]e accept 

the trial court’s credibility determinations and findings on 

questions of historical fact if supported by substantial evidence.  

[Citations.]  Whether prejudice arose from juror misconduct, 

however, is a mixed question of law and fact subject to an 

appellate court’s independent determination.’  [Citations.]”  

(People v. Majors (1998) 18 Cal.4th 385, 417.)   

 Here, after questioning the jurors, the trial court denied 

defendant’s motion for a mistrial.  The court explained:   

 “Having spent all day on the subject of juror misconduct and 

speaking with each juror independently at least two times, I’m 

very impressed.  I think they have displayed that they are taking 

their duties very seriously. [¶] The fact that there were some 

discrepancies between the comments of some of the jurors from 

another juror -- as you know, one of the instructions we give on 

credibility is people often see and hear things differently and 

innocent misrecollection is not uncommon. [¶] I don’t think that 

there is anything that was said, even factoring in some of the 

inconsistencies, I don’t think there is anything that leads to the 

conclusion that there has been any misconduct.  I think all of the 

jurors were candid, forthright and sincere, and I think they have 

demonstrated they are taking their duties very seriously and have 

been following the Court’s instructions. [¶] There was testimony -- 

[¶] My recollection is there was testimony, and I’m confident that 

there was, that the defendant’s wife did work as an undercover 
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officer.  And just pointing her out in the hallway, I don’t see 

that as misconduct, either. [¶] So I don’t see that there’s been 

any misconduct.  If there has been any misconduct, I don’t think 

there is any prejudice whatsoever.  These jurors are taking their 

job seriously, and I think that they have all indicated that they 

can and will be fair to both sides in this case.”   

 Because alternate juror two had already been excused, it is 

likely that the trial court’s finding of no misconduct did not 

take into consideration alternate juror two, who received outside 

information.  With the departure of alternate juror two, the only 

question was whether he had tainted any of the other jurors.   

 Defendant argues that alternate juror two’s “conversations 

with the other jurors, and their failure to report the misconduct, 

constitute proof that these jurors harbored actual bias against 

[defendant].”  He overstates his case.  Only juror three and 

alternate juror one indicated they had heard alternate juror two 

say anything about the case.  Juror three heard somebody say 

defendant’s wife was an undercover police officer, a matter that 

was in evidence.  However, no opinion was expressed about her.  

Alternate juror one heard a comment by alternate juror two about 

the attitude of one of the witnesses.  But alternate juror one 

cut the conversation short and assured the court this would not 

affect the person’s judgment in the case.  Thus, even if there 

was misconduct, there is no reason to believe either juror three 

or alternate juror one was thereby biased against defendant.   

 As for other discussions mentioned by the jurors, defendant 

reads the evidence in the light most favorable to himself rather 
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than to the trial court’s ruling.  As stated above, we accept the 

court’s credibility determinations and findings of fact if supported 

by substantial evidence.  (People v. Majors, supra, 18 Cal.4th at 

p. 417.)  Defendant views as dishonesty the testimony of jurors 

who denied having conversations with others, where such denials 

conflicted with the testimony of other jurors.  Not so.  As the 

trial court concluded, conflicts in the jurors’ testimony merely 

reflect differences in recollection.  The court’s factual 

determination reflects its assessment of the jurors’ credibility, 

which we will not disturb on appeal. 

VII* 

 Lastly, defendant correctly contends that the trial court’s 

imposition of the upper term on count two, sexual battery, violated 

the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution as interpreted 

in Apprendi v. New Jersey (2000) 530 U.S. 466 [147 L.Ed.2d 435] 

(hereafter Apprendi), Blakely v. Washington (2004) 542 U.S. 296 [159 

L.Ed.2d 403] (hereafter Blakely), and Cunningham v. California (2007) 

549 U.S. ___ [166 L.Ed.2d 856] (hereafter Cunningham).   

 Apprendi held that other than the fact of a prior conviction, 

any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the 

statutory maximum must be tried to a jury and proved beyond 

a reasonable doubt.  (Apprendi, supra, 530 U.S. at p. 490 [147 

L.Ed.2d at p. 455].)  For this purpose, the statutory maximum is 

the maximum sentence a court could impose based solely on facts 

reflected by a jury’s verdict or admitted by the defendant; thus, 

when a court’s authority to impose an enhanced sentence depends 

upon additional fact findings, there is a right to a jury trial and 
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proof beyond a reasonable doubt on the additional facts.  (Blakely, 

supra, 542 U.S. at pp. 302-305 [159 L.Ed.2d at pp. 413-414].)   

 Accordingly, in Cunningham, supra, 549 U.S. at p. ___ [166 

L.Ed.2d at p. 864], the United States Supreme Court held that by 

“assign[ing] to the trial judge, not to the jury, authority to 

find the facts that expose a defendant to an elevated ‘upper 

term’ sentence,” California’s determinate sentencing law 

“violates a defendant’s right to trial by jury safeguarded by 

the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments.”  (Ibid., overruling People 

v. Black (2005) 35 Cal.4th 1238 on this point, vacated in Black 

v. California (Feb. 20, 2007) __ U.S. __ [2007 WL 505809].)   

 Here, the trial court imposed the upper term on count two, 

finding that the 16-year-old victim was particularly vulnerable 

(Cal. Rules of Court, rule 4.421 (a)(3)) and the crime showed 

a high degree of callousness (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 4.421 

(a)(1)) in light of the fact that the crime occurred in a remote 

area when the victim’s hands were handcuffed behind her back and 

she was in the rear seat of defendant’s patrol car.  This judicial 

fact finding violated defendant’s constitutional right to a jury 

trial.  (Cunningham, supra, 549 U.S. at p. ___ [166 L.Ed.2d at p. 

864].) 

 We disagree with the People’s claim that the third factor 

upon which the trial court relied--a consecutive sentence could 

have been, but was not, imposed on the misdemeanor conviction on 

count six--supports imposition of the upper term on count two.  

The misdemeanor was not a “prior conviction.”  (Apprendi, supra, 

530 U.S. at p. 490 [147 L.Ed.2d at p. 455].)  We also reject the 



 

36 

People’s position that the jury unquestionably would have found 

true the aggravating factors upon which the trial court relied 

to impose the upper term and, therefore, the Apprendi, Blakely, 

Cunningham error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.  

DISPOSITION 

 The judgment is affirmed, except that the sentence on count two, 

sexual battery, is modified to impose the middle term of three years, 

instead of the upper term of four years, unless the People notify 

the trial court and defendant’s trial counsel that the People request 

a trial on the aggravating factors used by the court to impose the 

upper term on count two.  The People are directed to notify the 

trial court and defendant’s trial counsel, within 30 days after 

the remittitur is filed, whether the People request a trial on that 

issue.  If the People do not timely request a trial, the court shall 

amend the abstract of judgment to show imposition of the middle term 

of three years on count two, and send a certified copy of the amended 

abstract to the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation. 
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